**RECEIVED**

**Jan 28 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit

The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr.  
The Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV  
Trial Court Case No. 2022-CP-33-00362

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000434

---

Demetrice Utley, individually and as Personal  
Representative of the Estate of Taylor Danielle Price.....Respondent

vs.

McLeod Physician Associates II and Charles A. Trant,  
M.D. .... Appellants

---

**CORRECTED FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT CHARLES A. TRANT, M.D.**

---

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr., Esq. (S.C. Bar No. 1376)

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

**SUGGESTED ANSWER TO ALL QUESTIONS: Yes.**

1. **Did the trial court err in denying JNOV or a new trial where the evidence did not support the jury's finding of gross negligence?**
2. **Did the trial court err in denying JNOV or a new trial where the evidence did not support the jury's finding of proximate cause?**
3. **Did the trial court err in refusing to change venue for trial to Defendants' county of residence where the School District, the "anchor" for venue when suit was originally filed, had been dismissed?**
4. **Did the trial court err in denying a new trial where it provided incomplete and insufficient instructions on the definition of "gross negligence" and the statutory standards governing Dr. Trant's immunity from suit under the South Carolina Solicitation of Charitable Funds Act?**
5. **Did the trial court err in denying Defendants' Motion for New Trial where the verdict of \$30,000,000.00 was not supported by evidence showing specific harm to the statutory beneficiaries of Decedent and where Plaintiff's counsel made inflammatory arguments to the jury in closing?**
6. **Did the trial court err in refusing to apply the caps on liability under the South Carolina Solicitation of Charitable Funds Act to Dr. Trant?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **A. Introduction**

This case involves the tragic death of Taylor Price, a high school junior, from a rare and difficult to diagnose condition called Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Dysplasia (“ARVD”). ARVD is such a rare and elusive condition that it is usually diagnosed on autopsy. But also tragic for pediatric cardiologist Dr. Charles Trant and his family was the jury’s stunning and ruinous thirty-million-dollar verdict against him—deliberating little more than 30 minutes. Dr. Trant saw Taylor only once, three years prior to her death. Taylor had experienced shortness of breath and collapsed during basketball practice before recovering fully. Based on the history he was given at that time, after examining her, and reviewing a recent EKG, Dr. Trant diagnosed Taylor with hyperventilation syndrome and cleared her to play middle school sports that year. Dr. Trant advised Taylor and her mother to return if any complaints reappeared. However, Dr. Trant never saw Taylor again. She underwent other sports physical examinations, was cleared to play, and participated in activities and lived her life without incident over the next three years. After her sudden and tragic death, her mother sued Dr. Trant for not diagnosing her with ARVD three years earlier.

Nobody is entitled to a perfect trial, but everyone is entitled to a fair trial. Dr. Trant did not have a fair trial. He was forced to defend himself in an emotionally-charged trial in Marion County, where Taylor’s family and friends live, rather than in Florence County, where he lives and works. The jury found him grossly negligent, stripping him of his charitable immunity rights, because the trial court gave the jury a misleading instruction on the definition of gross negligence and refused to charge the charitable immunity statute. The trial court should have granted Dr. Trant a JNOV because there was no evidence that he was grossly negligent or that his one examination of Taylor could have caused her death three years later. At the very least, he should have been granted a new trial because the verdict, both as to liability and damages, was manifestly unsupported by the evidence. Finally, he should have at least been accorded the benefit of the

charitable cap on liability rather than having to shoulder the full burden of a crushing thirty-million-dollar verdict, while his employer received the benefit of the cap.

**B. Procedural History**

Demetrice Utley ("Plaintiff") commenced this wrongful death action on July 13, 2022, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Taylor Danielle Price ("Decedent"). (*See generally* R. pp. 69-99). Plaintiff sued three defendants (two of which remain parties and are Appellants): McLeod Physician Associates II ("MPA"); Charles A. Trant, MD ("Dr. Trant"); and Marion County School District (the "School District").

**1. Defendants' Motion to Transfer Venue**

In the Complaint, Plaintiff alleged that venue was proper in Marion County because: (a) some of the alleged acts or omissions giving rise to Plaintiff's claims occurred in Marion County; and (b) S.C. Code § 15-78-100(b) required that venue be in Marion County because the School District was a Defendant. (*See* R. p. 71 ¶ 7). Dr. Trant lives and works in Florence County. However, he did not immediately move to dismiss or transfer venue because the joinder of the School District arguably made Marion County a proper venue. However, he expressly reserved the right to raise improper venue, if appropriate.

This action was originally set for trial in Marion County on September 9, 2024. After that jury was seated, Plaintiff's counsel advised the trial court that he had reached a settlement agreement with the School District.<sup>1</sup> (*See* R. p. 4). Upon learning that the School District would no longer be a party, on the same day trial had originally been set to begin, Defendants Trant and MPA moved to transfer venue from Marion County to Florence County. (*See* R. p. 120-21). In that motion, Defendants Trant and MPA asserted:

Pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-7-30(C) a civil action tried pursuant to this section against a resident individual defendant must be brought and tried in the county in which the: (1) defendant resides at the time the cause of action arose; or (2) the

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial court approved Plaintiff's settlement with the School District for \$130,000 on September 18, 2024. (*See generally* R. pp. 1-3). The School District was dismissed by stipulation on September 25, 2024. (*See generally* R. p. 173).

most substantial part of the alleged act or omission giving rise to the cause of action occurred.

Dr. Trant is a citizen and resident of Florence County. Dr. Trant does not own property or transact business in Marion County. At the time the cause of action arose, Dr. Trant was a citizen and resident of Florence County, and all of the alleged acts or omissions of Dr. Trant giving rise to Plaintiff's alleged claims occurred in Florence County. The right of a defendant to be tried in a county of his/her residence is a substantial right.

(See R. p. 121). Because of these events, the case did not go to trial on September 9, 2024.

After the parties briefed the Amended Motion for Change of Venue, on September 19, 2024, the Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV entered an Order Denying Defendants' motion. (See generally R. pp. 4-13). The trial court concluded that venue was proper in Marion County because "[i]t is undisputed that this action was properly commenced in Marion County in which one of the defendants resided at the time of the commencement of the action." (See R. p. 9). It further held that transfer of venue was not appropriate under S.C. Code § 15-7-100 to -110. As a result, Defendant Trant was forced to go to trial in Marion County even though, at the time of trial, there was no statutory basis for venue there.

## **2. Trial and Post-Trial Motions**

After resolution of the venue motion, the parties (Plaintiff, Dr. Trant, and MPA) tried this matter before a jury from November 4-8, 2024. The Honorable R.F. Cothran, Jr. presided over the jury trial. Ultimately, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Plaintiffs in the amount of \$30,000,000.00. (See R. pp. 226-28). The jury found that there was "more than one occurrence" and that Dr. Trant was grossly negligent. (See *id.*).

On November 15, 2024, Plaintiff filed her Post-Trial Motion for Confirmation of Two Occurrences. (See generally R. pp. 174-180). On the same day, Plaintiff filed her Motion for Award of Offer of Judgment Interest.<sup>2</sup> (See generally R. pp. 181-195).

---

<sup>2</sup> On November 15, 2022, Plaintiff filed an Offer of Judgment only as to Defendant MPA. (See generally R. pp. 115-17). Because the Offer of Judgment was not directed to Defendant Dr. Trant, the trial judge ultimately (and correctly) "decline[d] to impose offer of judgment interest on the verdict against Dr. Trant because Plaintiff did not serve its Offer of Judgment on Dr. Trant nor did Plaintiff direct the Offer of Judgment to him." (See R. pp. 35-36).

On November 18, 2024, Defendants Trant and MPA filed their Motion for JNOV or, in the Alternative, for a New Trial Absolute or, in the Alternative, for Reduction of the Verdicts and Supporting Memorandum of Law ("Defendants' Post-Trial Motions"). (*See generally* R. pp. 196-250). Defendants' Post-Trial Motions contended, *inter alia*:

- Defendants were entitled to judgment notwithstanding the verdict because, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, Dr. Trant was not grossly negligent, as a matter of law. The undisputed evidence showed that, at the very least, Dr. Trant acted with slight care.
- Defendants were entitled to judgment notwithstanding the verdict because, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, there was not sufficient evidence to support a jury verdict as to proximate causation and it was undisputed that an intervening cause broke the causal chain.
- Defendants were entitled to a new trial absolute because the case should have been transferred from Marion County to Florence County.
- Defendants were entitled to a new trial absolute because the trial judge erred in several erroneous and prejudicial jury instructions:
  - The trial judge's instruction on the substance of the gross negligence was erroneous because it was really the definition of ordinary negligence.
  - The trial judge's instructions were erroneous because he did not instruct the jury on the charitable immunity statute.
- Defendants were entitled to a new trial absolute because the verdict was excessive.
- Defendants were entitled to a new trial absolute under the "thirteenth juror" doctrine because the evidence does not support the verdict.
- Defendants are entitled to a set-off in the amount of \$130,000.00 paid to settle Plaintiff's claims against the School District.
- The total judgment of \$30 million should be reduced to a total of \$1.2 million in accordance with the South Carolina Solicitation of Charitable Funds Act.
- The South Carolina Solicitation of Charitable Funds Act cap on liability applies to Dr. Trant.

(*See generally id.*).

On November 25, 2024, the trial court held oral argument on the parties' post-trial motions.

The parties were provided the opportunity to submit supplemental materials on the post-trial motions. On February 3 and 5, 2025, Judge Cothran entered an Order on Post-Trial Motions. (*See generally* R. pp. 14-62). In that Order, the trial court:

- Denied Defendants' motions for JNOV because: (a) there was evidence in the record that Dr. Trant was grossly negligent; (b) the evidence supported a finding of two occurrences; and (c) the evidence supported that Dr. Trant's negligence was a proximate cause of Plaintiff's injuries;
- Denied Defendants' motions for new trial absolute because: (a) the denial of the Motion to Change Venue was appropriate; (b) a new trial was not required because of Judge Cothran's instructions on gross negligence and the Solicitation of Charitable Funds Act; and (c) the size of the verdict did not require a new trial; and
- Granted in part and denied in part Plaintiff's motions as to the amount of the verdict by: (a) reducing the verdict against MPA to \$2.4 million plus offer of judgment interest of \$380,843.84; and (b) refusing to reduce the \$30 million verdict as to Dr. Trant

(*See generally id.*). On February 13, 2025, Defendants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Order and/or Motion to Reconsider. (*See generally* R. pp. 312-20). On March 3, 2025, the trial judge entered an Order Denying Motion to Alter or Amend. (*See generally* R. pp. 63-64). Defendants Dr. Trant and MPA filed their Notice of Appeal on March 5, 2025. (*See generally* R. pp. 1516-18).

### C. **Factual Background**

At the time of her death, Decedent was a junior at Mullins High School. (*See* R. pp. 513:25-514:1). Decedent started playing basketball for Marion Rec and later played in seventh grade at Palmetto Middle School. (*See* R. pp. 517:10-520:5). Plaintiff testified about what occurred on January 24, 2018, at a seventh grade home game:

Taylor was playing, and she just collapsed to the floor. I know basketball is a very physical sport, so when she collapsed, I wasn't really sure if she got tripped or anything. So, I just, you know, sat in the stands, waiting to see if she was gonna get up. And then somebody closer to her, because I was sitting on the opposite side, they motioned for me to come over. So, whenever I went over Taylor was on the floor. She was not getting up, and I was like, Taylor, like, get up. You okay? Like, what happened, what happened? She couldn't really express herself. She was just laying on the floor, like complaining of -- I think at that time, it was tingling, hot, or something. I can't remember specifically, but she was complaining of facial

tingling and some other things. . . . Shortness of breath, yeah, she was saying she couldn't breathe.

(*See R. pp. 520:16-521:7*). Decedent was treated and released that day at MUSC Florence, where she saw Dr. Steven M. Halus, who diagnosed her with hyperventilation syndrome:

The patient presents with difficulty breathing and Complaint asthma became short of breath then appeared to have some carpal pedal spasm. The course/duration of symptoms is improving. Degree at onset moderate. Degree at present none. The Exacerbating factors is exertion. The Relieving factors is rest. Risk factors consist of none. Prior episodes: none. Therapy today: Deep breathing and Gatorade. Associated symptoms: denies chest pain and denies fever.

(*See R. pp. 1220-21*). Plaintiff testified that this was the first time Decedent had had any collapses.

(*See R. p. 528:19-25*).

Within a few days after this, Decedent had another incident at basketball practice, and Plaintiff had to go to pick her up. (*See R. p. 529:1-18*). On February 1, 2018, Decedent followed up with Dr. Marc Bahan, who had long been her regular pediatrician. (*See R. pp. 527:13-528:13*). At that time, records reflect that she had complaints of stomach ache, vomiting, passing out, blurred vision, thirsty, and sweating. (*See R. p. 1240*). Dr. Bahan's records further state, "patient with symptoms of syncope x2 after basketball practice patient with poor feeding during the day for hydration mom concerned about diabetes or hypoglycemia, patient with improvement of symptoms when drinking juice after symptoms began." (*See R. p. 1241*). Both Drs. Halus and Bahan instructed Decedent to be properly hydrated. (*See R. p. 527:8-12, 530:21-25*).

Between February 1 and December 11, 2018, Decedent did not have any issues with collapsing, breathing, or chest pains. (*See R. pp. 532:22-533:4, 538:22-539:11*). From February 1 through the end of football season, Decedent was not playing basketball; she was participating in cheerleading instead. (*See R. pp. 538:19-541:11*). After football season, Decedent went out for the eighth grade basketball team. (*See R. pp. 541:12-542:16*).

On December 12, 2018, Decedent again collapsed at a basketball game and had to go to MUSC Florence. (*See R. p. 543:1-15*). The record from that visit includes the following history of the present illness:

The patient presents with chest pain. The onset was just prior to arrival. The course/duration of symptoms is resolved. Location: Anterior chest. Radiating pain: none. The character of symptoms is sharp. The degree at onset was moderate. The degree at maximum was moderate. The degree at present is none. The exacerbating factor is none. The relieving factor is rest. Risk factors consist of not hypertension, not diabetes mellitus, not smoking, not obesity, not pulmonary embolism and not deep vein thrombosis. Prior episodes: none. Associated symptoms: denies shortness of breath, denies nausea, denies vomiting, denies diaphoresis, denies anxiety and denies palpitations. Additional history: Per mom, child was playing in a basketball game at school when she suddenly felt hot, had some chest pain/tightness and vomited once. Mom states child continued to complain of being hot but did not feel hot to touch. Symptoms had completely resolved by the time they got to the emergency room.

(See R. pp. 1334-35). Chest x-rays were normal, with "[n]o acute cardiopulmonary disease." (See R. p. 1338). An interpretive statement in the record noted: "Normal sinus rhythm IRBBB<sup>3</sup> Otherwise normal ECG." (See R. p. 1341). She was diagnosed with chest wall pain and told to follow up with her primary doctor in 1-2 days and return if pain worsened. (See R. p. 1338).

Several days later, on December 18, 2018, Decedent again collapsed during a basketball game; Plaintiff took Decedent home to rest after she began feeling better. (See R. pp. 550:16-560:12). Plaintiff did not take Decedent to the emergency room for this incident because she had already been to the ER twice and "they were basically telling me the same thing." (See R. pp. 561:16-562:13). After this incident, Plaintiff was told that Decedent would need a letter from a doctor before she could return to play. (See R. pp. 560:20-561:11).

In January, 2019, Plaintiff contacted Dr. Bahan to get a referral for a pediatric cardiologist. (See R. pp. 563:15-565:9). On January 21, 2019, Dr. Bahan referred Decedent to Dr. Trant with a diagnosis of syncope:

---

<sup>3</sup> IRBBB refers to an Incomplete Right Bundle Branch Block, a benign nonpathological finding for an asymptomatic 13 year old. (See R. p. 779:13-21).

Referral Order Information

|            |   |
|------------|---|
| Diagnosis  | Syncope<br>ICD-10: R55: Syncope and collapse  |
| Order Name | Orders Included: 1<br><br>Syncope<br>ICD-10: R55: Syncope and collapse<br>• PEDIATRIC CARDIOLOGY REFERRAL<br>Schedule Within: provider's discretion |
| Notes      |   |

(See R. p. 1359).

Dr. Trant saw Decedent on January 24, 2019, exactly a year after her first collapse. (See generally R. pp. 1361-63; see also R. p. 574:7-9). Dr. Trant recounted her history of present illness as follows:

Thank you for referring your patient for evaluation of shortness of breath and near syncope. Lately, she has had no difficulty with basketball practice, including doing suicides, but at the last bas[k]e[t]ball game, she became short of breath and felt unsteady. She also felt hot, as if she was going to faint. Spell lasted for a few minutes and then she recovered. Otherwise she reported no other issues or concerns. Family history is negative for congenital heart disease.

(See R. p. 1361). He obtained her medical and family history and her vitals. (See *id.*). Plaintiff testified that during this visit she never told Dr. Trant that Decedent had ever experienced syncope to the point of complete unconsciousness. (See R. p. 655:13-21).

Dr. Trant conducted a full pediatric cardiology exam, including: general (affect, arousal, nourishment, and distress), eyes (lids and conjunctiva), mouth/teeth/gums, neck (thyroidomegaly and JVD), lungs (auscultation and respiratory effort), cardiovascular (precordium, auscultation, murmur, and pulses), extremities/skin, abdomen, and musculoskeletal. (See R. pp. 1361-62). Dr. Trant made the following assessments: 1. Hyperventilation syndrome—F45.8 (Primary), 2. Hyperventilation—R06.4, and 3. Vagal reaction—Rs5. (See R. p. 1362). His records reflect the following treatment for the primary assessment (hyperventilation syndrome):

Notes: She is currently stable. Her symptoms are most consistent with a combination of hyperventilation and hyper vagotonia. Both of which are related to all the changes related to puberty. We spent several minutes discussing both including the usual treatments. I recommended changing her breathing pattern during the spells to avoid panting. We also discussed the use of a paper bag. I also

recommended super hydration and added salt as needed. I invited h[er] to call should the symptoms persist or not respond as expected.

(*See id.*). The records reflect that Decedent was to follow up "prn," or as needed. (*See R. p. 1363*).

Dr. Trant cleared Decedent for "sports/physical education/cheer squad." (*See R. p. 1364*).

During the nearly three years between Dr. Trant seeing Decedent and Decedent's unfortunate death, Decedent did not return to see Dr. Trant:

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