**RECEIVED**  
**Jan 27 2026**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Hon. R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr.  
The Hon. H. Steven DeBerry, IV

Appellate Case No. 2025-000434

Demetrice Utley, individually and as Personal  
Representative of the Estate of Taylor Danielle Price, .....Respondent,

v.

McLeod Physician Associates II and Charles A. Trant, M.D., ..... Appellants.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

R. Brian Critzer (S.C. Bar No. 103159)  
Kaye G. Hearn (S.C. Bar No. 2891)  
Matthew Richardson (S.C. Bar No. 15647)  
WYCHE, P.A.  
807 Gervais Street, Suite 301  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 254-6542

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

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The trial court did not err in refusing to transfer venue to Florence County because this lawsuit was properly instituted in Marion County, and Appellants did not demonstrate that changing venue would serve either the convenience of the witnesses or the ends of justice.**

Marion County School District was a viable defendant when this action was instituted and continued to be a viable defendant until a settlement was consummated the morning the case was scheduled for trial. The settlement reached was not negligible; it was \$130,0000.<sup>10</sup> Because counsel for the school district had participated, albeit minimally, in jury selection, Judge DeBerry

---

<sup>10</sup> Respondent strongly objects to Appellants’ characterization of the suit against Marion County School District and the timing of the parties’ settlement as “forum manipulation.” (McLeod Br., p. 11).

did not grant Respondent's request that the case go forward with the jury chosen that morning. Accordingly, Judge DeBerry discharged the jury and heard fulsome arguments on Appellants' motion for change of venue.

During the arguments, Respondent asserted the case of *Jeter v. S.C. DOT*, 369 S.C. 433, 633 S.E.2d 143 (2006), controlled. Counsel for the medical defendants agreed with Respondent on the applicability of *Jeter*, and sought to bring themselves within the statutory and caselaw parameters for changing venue, specifically acknowledging:

*The Jeter case, which was cited by the plaintiffs yesterday, and we agree with what the plaintiff is saying about the Jeter case, that when venue is proper in more than one county, the plaintiff gets to choose that county. And venue may only be transferred if there exists some statutory grounds for the transfer. . . .The Court may change the place of trial if there is reason to believe that a fair and impartial trial cannot be had. We don't believe that a fair and impartial trial can be had in Marion on this case going forward. You can also change it with the ends of justice.*

(emphasis supplied). (R. p. 433, lines 3-15). Appellants' counsel continued with this argument: “[W]e believe there is a mechanism that equity and justice and fairness require this case be moved to Florence County.” (R. p. 435, lines 8-10).<sup>11</sup>

---

<sup>11</sup> In response to a question from Judge DeBerry as to why a future Marion County jury could not be fair and impartial, Appellants conceded this point on the record. (R. p. 435, line 14). This concession formed a cornerstone of his ultimate ruling, with Judge DeBerry noting in his Order:

During the hearing of the Motion, counsel for the Medical Defendants agreed that a fair and impartial trial could be had in Marion County. Accordingly, the Court finds that the Medical Defendants have failed to make the necessary showing that “there is reason to believe that a fair and impartial trial cannot be had” in Marion County.

(R. p. 9).

Thus, during arguments on Appellants' motion for a change of venue, only the *Jeter* case and S.C. Code Section 15-7-100 were argued.<sup>12</sup> The framework both sides agreed controlled Judge DeBerry's decision was, in the words of Appellants' counsel, whether "equity and justice and fairness require this case to be moved to Florence County." (R. p. 435, lines 8-10). Additionally, while Appellants' counsel did assert their clients' rights to be tried in the county of their residence, the first time the case of *Chestnut v. Reid*, 299 S.C. 305, 384 S.E.2d 713 (1989), was mentioned was in their proposed order. Conspicuously absent from the transcript of the arguments or in Appellants' proposed order is any mention of *Jeter* being "outdated" or no longer good authority in light of certain 2005 amendments to the venue statutes. Nor did Appellants' counsel ask Judge DeBerry to overrule *Jeter*. However, on appeal, both Appellants make a new and markedly different argument than that made before Judge DeBerry. Appellant McLeod now asserts: "Importantly, *Jeter*, while decided in 2006, did not interpret the venue statutes adopted as part of the 2005 tort reform at which time the venue statutes were entirely re-written and were of particular focus during the General Assembly's debate." (McLeod Br., pp. 8-9). And Dr. Trant now argues: "Initially, *Jeter* is inapplicable because it construed a prior version of the venue statute, which has been materially amended." (Trant Br., p. 29). Neither of these arguments can be found anywhere in the transcript of the hearing on the motion before Judge DeBerry nor in the proposed order submitted for his signature. Arguments on this motion were held in September 2024, so Appellants had YEARS to discern and formulate these arguments to Judge DeBerry, but they did not. Even

---

<sup>12</sup> While Appellants cited section 15-7-30 in their written motions, the argument before the trial court focused on the interests of justice and convenience of the witnesses. Further, Appellants never asserted to the trial court that the 2005 amendments changed the law. The record demonstrates the parties and the trial court focused on the factual circumstances of *Jeter*, and Appellants never argued to the trial court that *Jeter* was no longer good law. Nor did Appellants raise the issue that the law had been changed in their Rule 59(e) motion.

though new arguments cannot be raised in post-trial motions, Appellants in their Rule 59(e) motion did not argue to the trial court that *Jeter* was superseded by the 2005 amendments. In other words, Appellants ask this Court to reverse the circuit court on an issue that was neither raised nor decided.

Accordingly, Respondent's threshold argument in response to the arguments of Appellants concerning change of venue is that they are not preserved for appellate review. An appellant cannot make one argument at trial and another, different argument on appeal, but that is precisely what the Appellants are attempting to do here. They should not succeed in this endeavor. *See, e.g., State ex rel. Wilson v. Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharm.*, 414 S.C. 33, 60, 777 S.E.2d 176, 190 (2015) (finding an issue unpreserved where the appellant "argues a different basis on appeal than was argued at trial"); *Wilburn v. Wilburn*, 403 S.C. 372, 386 n.2, 743 S.E.2d 734, 742 n.2 (2013) ("[An] appellant cannot argue one ground at trial and another ground on appeal."); *Carson v. CSX Transp. Inc.*, 400 S.C. 221, 243, 734 S.E.2d 148, 160 (2012) ("[A]n appellant cannot change or add to the arguments he made at trial on appeal."); *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) ("A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.").

The transcript of the hearing before Judge DeBerry demonstrates that the arguments now asserted were never raised to him. Judge DeBerry had no opportunity to rule on these arguments because they were not presented to him, and Appellants' request that he be reversed on this basis should be summarily denied. *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 660, 661 S.E.2d 791, 800 (2008) ("Because these issues were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the circuit court judge, we find they were not properly preserved for our review.")

Even assuming this Court addresses the arguments about change of venue, they should be rejected because Judge DeBerry was correct on the merits and in basing his decision on *Jeter*. The

facts of *Jeter*; including the procedural posture, are much more analogous to this case than are the facts presented in *Chestnut*.

In *Jeter*, the plaintiffs filed suit against the South Carolina Department of Transportation after their car was struck by another vehicle traveling on a recently resurfaced road in Union County. SCDOT then filed a third-party complaint against the driver of the other vehicle, who, in turn, filed a counterclaim against SCDOT for the injuries she received in the crash. After settling with the Jeters, the third-party complainant filed an amended answer and counterclaim, alleging that venue in Union County was improper and should now be transferred to Fairfield County, the county of her residence. The circuit court granted the motion for a change of venue, and SCDOT appealed. The Court of Appeals upheld the change in venue, but the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed, holding that while a defendant does have a substantial right to be tried in the county of his residence under to S.C. Code Section 15-7-30, “where there are multiple defendants residing in different counties, the plaintiff may properly bring the action in the county where any one of the defendants resides at the time of the commencement of the action.” 369 S.C. at 442, 633 S.E.2d at 148. That is exactly the situation here where there were multiple defendants residing in both Florence and Marion Counties, and Respondent properly brought the action in Marion County.

The similarities between the facts here and those in *Jeter* are striking. Both involved multiple defendants and a settlement between the plaintiff and one of the defendants. In both cases there was no question that initially, the actions were filed in a proper venue. In both cases, the remaining defendants moved for a change of venue based on the substantial right of a defendant to be tried in the county of his or her residence. The Supreme Court was very clear in its opinion

that because the Jeters properly initiated their action in Union County, the lower court abused its discretion by transferring venue.<sup>13</sup>

Appellants' argument in their briefs that the motion for a change of venue should have been granted as a matter of law under *Chestnut* is unavailing because the facts and procedural posture of that case are substantially different from the case here. *Chestnut* also involved a motor vehicle accident. The accident occurred in Horry County, and, importantly, *Chestnut* improperly brought the action there rather than in York County, the county of the defendant's residence. The trial judge denied the defendant's motion for a change of venue, holding that although a defendant's right to have venue changed to his home county is a substantial right, it is not absolute, and the court has discretion to consider the convenience of the witnesses and the interest of justice. The South Carolina Supreme Court reversed, holding that under those facts, *where an action had been instituted in the wrong county*, the right of a defendant to have a case tried against him in the county in which he resides is a substantial right and, as a matter of law, venue should have been changed. That factual scenario is completely different than the one presented here where all parties acknowledge that the action was properly begun in Marion County.

The *Jeter* decision was issued seventeen years after the decision in *Chestnut* and does not rely on *Chestnut* at all,<sup>14</sup> likely because the facts and the procedural posture of the two decisions are so dissimilar. If Appellants were correct that review of a trial court's decision on a motion for change of venue when suit was originally instituted in a proper venue was as a matter of law, the

---

<sup>13</sup> In a footnote, the *Jeter* Court stated that the parties were not precluded from bringing a subsequent motion under S.C. Code Section 15-7-100—the precise statutory framework argued to Judge DeBerry by both parties here—to change venue based on the convenience of witnesses and the promotion of justice. 369 S.C. at 443, 633 S.E.2d at 148.

<sup>14</sup> Respondent acknowledges that the *Jeter* decision does mention *Chestnut* in a footnote but only on a different point of law irrelevant here. In no way does the *Jeter* Court rely on *Chestnut* for the basis of its decision.

Court in *Jeter* would have said so. Instead, the *Jeter* opinion employed an abuse of discretion standard of review in a case whose facts are strikingly similar to those presented here. *Jeter*, 369 S.C. at 437, 633 S.E.2d at 145 (noting an appellate court will not disturb a trial court’s decision on a motion to change venue “unless a manifest abuse of discretion is found resulting in an error of law”).

In *Jeter*, SCDOT argued just as Respondent argued here, that it would be error to transfer venue when the original venue was proper. The Supreme Court, while acknowledging that a defendant has a substantial right to be tried in the county of his residence, cited to this longstanding principle of law:

[T]he general rule is that where an action is properly instituted in a county other than that of the defendant’s residence, a defendant has no right to request a change of venue to the county of his or her residence on the ground that the action was not brought in a proper county, even if the action could also have been commenced in the county where the defendant resides.

*Id.* at 442, 633 S.E.2d at 148 (quoting 92A C.J.S. Venue § 163). Judge DeBerry’s Order Denying Defendants’ Motion for Change of Venue correctly relied on *Jeter* in holding that “[i]t is undisputed that this action was properly commenced in Marion County in which one of the defendants resided at the time of commencement of the action. . . . Therefore, the Medical Defendants are not entitled to a transfer of venue on the basis of the residency provisions of S.C. Code 15-7-30.” (R. p. 8). Judge DeBerry found *Jeter* to be compelling precedent, not only because both sides treated it as the appropriate legal framework, but also because it likewise involved a suit that was initially properly instituted, a vastly different situation than in *Chestnut*, where an action was brought improperly in the county where the accident occurred. Judge DeBerry correctly held that Appellants’ reliance on *Chestnut* was “misplaced” because unlike the present action, “[t]he sole

defendant in that action was a resident of York County, which causes *Chestnut* to be entirely distinguishable and inapplicable to the situation presented here.” (R. p. 8).

In summary, Respondent contends the arguments advanced by the Appellants before this Court were never raised to Judge DeBerry and therefore are unpreserved. Even on the merits, the arguments fail because Judge DeBerry was correct in holding that these facts are much more aligned with those of *Jeter* than those of *Chestnut*, where the action was instituted in an improper venue. Only under those circumstances is a change of venue warranted as a matter of law.<sup>15</sup> As a final, desperate attempt to persuade this Court, Appellant Trant argues that if this Court does not accept his unpreserved argument that the 2005 amendments to the venue statutes altered the holding in *Jeter*, or that this case is controlled by *Chestnut* rather than *Jeter*, then *Jeter* should be overruled. That argument, akin to a Hail Mary pass, is not available to Appellants because this request was never raised to Judge DeBerry and also because the court of appeals does not have “authority to overrule Supreme Court precedent.” *Caldwell v. Wiquist*, 402 S.C. 565, 570, 741 S.E.2d 583, 586 (Ct. App. 2013) (“This court has ‘no authority to overrule Supreme Court precedent’.... Thus, we decline to address Wiquist’s argument that the *Yates* line of cases should be overruled.”) (internal citation omitted). Therefore, this Court should not entertain this argument.

Judge DeBerry thoughtfully considered all arguments made to him and removed any potential problem with the initial jury selected by dismissing it. He found that *Jeter* controlled and that Appellants’ reliance on *Chestnut* was misplaced. He did not consider what effect, if any, the 2005 amendments to the venue statute might have because that argument was never raised to him.

---

<sup>15</sup> Thus, Appellants are also mistaken in their asserted standard of review. *Jeter* made clear that the standard of review of a motion to change venue in a situation where the action was properly initiated is abuse of discretion, not de novo as a matter of law. *Jeter*, 369 S.C. at 438, 633 S.E.2d at 145.

In finding that the case could be fairly and justly tried by a Marion County jury, he considered not only Appellants' counsel's express concession on that point, but also the state of the trial docket in Marion County as opposed to Florence County, noting on the record that the case would be tried much sooner in Marion County, which would serve the ends of justice. He did not abuse his discretion in denying Appellants' motion for a change of venue and his well-reasoned order should be affirmed.

**II. The trial court did not err in submitting this case to the jury and denying Appellants' motions for JNOV or a new trial as to proximate cause and gross negligence because ample evidence existed to create a quintessential jury issue on these matters.**

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